
WTRY Broadcast Schedule Regular Meetings, Wednesday, 6:00 p.m. and 11:00 p.m. Study Meetings, Wednesday, 3:00 p.m. 

 PLANNING COMMISSION 

 MEETING AGENDA 

REGULAR MEETING 

 
 

Michael W. Hutson, Chair, and Mark Maxwell, Vice Chair 
Donald Edmunds, Tom Krent, Philip Sanzica, Robert Schultz 

Thomas, Strat, John J. Tagle and Lon M. Ullmann 

   

August 9, 2011 7:30 P.M. Council Chambers 
   

 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – July 26, 2011 Special / Study Meeting 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS – For Items Not on the Agenda 
 

SPECIAL USE REQUESTS 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

(File Number SU 390) – Proposed Holiday Inn Express Hotel & Suites, East side of 
Stephenson Highway, North of 14 Mile (466 Stephenson Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned 
OM (Office Mixed Use) District 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

(File Number SU 391) – Proposed Kroger Retail Fuel Center D-464, Southwest Corner of 
South Boulevard and Crooks (2105 W. South Blvd), Section 5, Currently Zoned NN 
(Neighborhood Node) District (Controlled by Consent Judgment) 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 

 
7. SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 388 A) 

– Proposed Adult Foster Care Home, North side of Square Lake, East of Beach (2420 W. 
Square Lake), Section 6, Currently Zoned R-1A (One Family Residential) District 

 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – Items on Current Agenda 
 
9. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS 
 
ADJOURN 
 
 
NOTICE: People with disabilities needing accommodations for effective participation in this meeting should contact the City Clerk by e-mail at 

clerk@troymi.gov or by calling (248) 524-3317 at least two working days in advance of the meeting.  An attempt will be made to make 
reasonable accommodations. 

500 W. Big Beaver 
Troy, MI  48084 
(248) 524-3364 
www.troymi.gov 

planning@troymi.gov 

mailto:clerk@ci.troy.mi.us


PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT JULY 26, 2011 
  
 
 

 - 1 - 
 

The Special/Study Meeting of the Troy City Planning Commission was called to order by 
Chair Hutson at 7:30 p.m. on July 26, 2011 in the Council Board Room of the Troy City 
Hall. 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 

Present: Absent: 
Donald Edmunds Mark Maxwell 
Michael W. Hutson 
Tom Krent 
Philip Sanzica (arrived 7:32 p.m.) 
Robert M. Schultz 
Thomas Strat 
John J. Tagle 
Lon M. Ullmann 
 
Also Present: 
R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
Susan Lancaster, Assistant City Attorney 
Zachary Branigan, Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. 
Kathy Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 

 
2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

 
Resolution # PC-2011-07-044 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Ullmann 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the Agenda as prepared. 
 
Yes: Edmunds, Hutson, Krent, Schultz, Strat, Tagle, Ullmann 
Absent: Maxwell, Sanzica (arrived 7:32 p.m.) 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 
[Mr. Sanzica arrived 7:32 p.m.] 
 
Resolution # PC-2011-07-045 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Tagle 
 
RESOLVED, To approve the minutes of the July 12, 2011 Regular meeting as 
prepared with a correction to the title of R. Brent Savidant. 
 
Yes: Edmunds, Hutson, Krent, Schultz, Strat, Tagle, Ullmann 
Abstain: Sanzica 
Absent: Maxwell 
 
MOTION CARRIED 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT JULY 26, 2011 
  
 
 

 - 2 - 
 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 
 

5. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS (ZBA) REPORT 
 
Mr. Strat gave a summary of the July 19, 2011 Zoning Board of Appeals meeting. 

 
6. DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (DDA) REPORT 

 
There was no DDA meeting in July. 
 

7. PLANNING AND ZONING REPORT 
 
Mr. Savidant gave a report on current planning and zoning matters.  Mr. Savidant 
requested to reschedule discussion on Agenda item #10, Sustainable Development 
Checklist. 
 
 

SPECIAL USE REQUEST 
 
8. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

REVIEW (File Number SU 117 D) – Proposed St. Mark Coptic Orthodox Church 
Expansion Sunday School Classes, West Side of Livernois, South of Wattles (3603 
Livernois), Section 21, Currently Zoned R-1B (One Family Residential) District 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
Gerald Kupel of 3641 Livernois; clarification on location of temporary buildings. 
Mark VanValkenburg of 12 Kirk Lane; opposed. 
Thomas Gill of 53 Kirk Lane; opposed. 
 
Chair Hutson stated the Public Hearing would continue to remain open and 
notification of a meeting scheduled in the future for this item would be provided, 
noting the City would not be constrained by any legal requirements of such 
notification. 
 
Resolution #2011-07-046 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
To postpone the Special Use Request and Preliminary Site Plan Approval and the 
Public Hearing on this item until such time that the required documentation is 
provided and there is adequate time for review by the Planning Director and 
Planning Consultant.   



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT JULY 26, 2011 
  
 
 

 - 3 - 
 

Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Maxwell 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 
 

SITE PLAN REVIEW 
 
9. PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SP 970) – Proposed Granite City 

Food & Brewery Restaurant, South Side of Big Beaver Road, East of Troy Center 
Drive, Section 28, Currently Zoned BB (Big Beaver Form Based Code) District 
 
Resolution #2011-07-047 
Moved by: Schultz 
Seconded by: Edmunds 
 
RESOLVED, The Planning Commission hereby approves a reduction in the total 
number of required parking spaces for the proposed Granite City Food & Brewery 
to 142 when a total of 149 spaces are required on the site based on the off-street 
parking space requirements for restaurants.  This 7-space reduction meets the 
standards of Section 13.06; and, 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, The Planning Commission hereby approves a 
reduction in the total number of required parking spaces for the entire PNC office 
building parent site, including the tower, annex and proposed restaurant, to 1,607, 
when a total of 2,122 spaces are required on the site based on the off-street 
parking space requirements for office, medical office, restaurant and retail uses.  
This 515 space reduction meets the standards of Section 13.06. 
 
BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, That Preliminary Site Plan Approval, pursuant to 
Article 5 of the Zoning Ordinance, as requested for the proposed Granite City Food 
& Brewery Restaurant, located on the south side of Big Beaver Road, east of Troy 
Center Drive, in Section 28, within the BB (Big Beaver Form Based) zoning district, 
is hereby granted, subject to the following conditions: 
 
1. Correct the east boundary labels and setback lines to reflect its condition as a 

side yard. 
2. Demonstrate that the first floor is 14 feet or taller in height.  
3. Relocate the proposed 30 inch wall and hedgerow so that the hedgerow is on 

the north side of the wall, along the required building line. 
4. Add a bike rack with capacity of at least two bicycles. 
5. Add one street tree. 
6. Show the location of existing cross access easements on abutting properties 

and the location of proposed cross access easements or joint drive easements 
on the subject property. 

7. Provide full dimensions for the preliminary floor plans. 



PLANNING COMMISSION SPECIAL/STUDY MEETING – DRAFT JULY 26, 2011 
  
 
 

 - 4 - 
 

8. Provide lighting plans indicating proposed photometrics, height of light fixtures, 
proposed light fixtures, and proposed methods of shielding, prior to Final Site 
Plan Approval. 

 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Maxwell 
 
MOTION CARRIED 
 
 

STUDY ITEM 
 

10. SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT CHECKLIST 
 

 
OTHER ITEMS 

 
11. PUBLIC COMMENT – Items on Current Agenda 

 
There was no one present who wished to speak. 

 
 

12. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENT 
 
There was general Planning Commission discussion. 

 
 
ADJOURN 
 
The Special/Study Meeting of the Planning Commission adjourned at 8:45 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
       
Michael W. Hutson, Chair 
 
 
 
 
       
Kathy L. Czarnecki, Recording Secretary 
 
G:\Planning Commission Minutes\2011 PC Minutes\Draft\07-26-11 Special Study Meeting_Draft.doc 



  PC 2011.08.09 
  Agenda Item # 5 

 

 
 
 
 
DATE: August 4, 2011 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE 

PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 390) – Proposed Holiday Inn Express Hotel & 
Suites, East side of Stephenson Highway, North of 14 Mile (466 Stephenson 
Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned OM (Office Mixed Use) District 

 
The applicant, FAS Hotels LLC, proposes a Holiday Inn Express Hotel & Suites at 466 
Stephenson.  A vacant building presently sits on the property. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s 
Planning Consultant, summarizes the project.  CWA prepared the report with input from 
various City departments including Planning, Engineering, Public Works and Fire.   City 
Management supports the findings of fact contained in the report and recommends approval 
of the project, as noted.   
 
Please be prepared to discuss the application at the August 9, 2011 Planning Commission 
Regular meeting. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps. 
2. Report prepared by CWA. 

 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SU 390 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 390  Holiday Inn Express  Sec 35\SU-390 Holiday Inn Express 08 09 2011.docx 



 

 

 
SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
(File Number SU 390) – Proposed Holiday Inn Express Hotel & Suites, East side of 
Stephenson Highway, North of 14 Mile (466 Stephenson Hwy), Section 35, Currently Zoned 
OM (Office Mixed Use) District 
 
Proposed Resolution # PC-2011-08- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
 

RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval and Preliminary Site Plan Approval for the 
proposed Holiday Inn Express Hotel & Suites, located on the east side of Stephenson 
Highway, North of Fourteen Mile Road, at 466 Stephenson, Section 35, within the OM zoning 
district, be granted, subject to the following: 
___________________________________________________________) or  
 
 

(denied, for the following reasons: _________________________________) or 
 

(postponed, for the following reasons:_________________________________) 
 
 

Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 
 
 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 390  Holiday Inn Express  Sec 35\Proposed Resolution  SU 390 08 09 2011.docx 



466 Stephenson Hwy, Holiday Inn Express

6/14/2011

Legend

1: 1,123

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

940187 187Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:Band_1

Green:Band_2

Blue:Band_3



466 Stephenson Hwy, Holiday Inn Express

8/5/2011

Legend

1: 1,404

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1170234 234Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Form Based Zoning (Current)

(PUD) Planned Unit Development

(CF) Community Facilities District

(EP) Environmental Protection District

(BB) Big Beaver Road (Form Based)

(MRF) Maple Road (Form Based)

(NN) Neighborhood Nodes (A-U)

(CB) Community Business

(GB) General Business

(IB) Integrated Industrial Business District

(O) Office Building District

(OM) Office Mixed Use

(P) Vehicular Parking District

(R-1A) One Family Residential District

(R-1B) One Family Residential District

(R-1C) One Family Residential District

(R-1D) One Family Residential District

(R-1E) One Family Residential District

(RT) One Family Attached Residential District

(MR) Multi-Family Residential

(MHP) Manufactured Housing

(UR) Urban Residential

(RC) Research Center District

(PV) Planned Vehicle Sales

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:    Band_1

Green: Band_2

Blue:   Band_3



 
 
 

 Date:  August 4, 2011 
 

Special Use Review 
For 

City of Troy, Michigan 
 
 
 
 
Applicant: Asad Malik 
 
Project Name: Holiday Inn Express Hotel and Suites 
 
Plan Date: June 30, 2011 
 
Location: East Side of Stephenson Highway, north of W. Fourteen Mile Road  
 
Zoning: OM, Office Mixed-Use District 
 
Action Requested: Preliminary Site Plan Approval 
 
Required Information: Deficiencies noted 
 
 
PROJECT AND SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
We are in receipt of a preliminary site plan which includes a site plan, landscape plan, 
topographic survey, tree preservation plan, grading and utility plan, lighting plan and details,  
floor plans, and elevations.  The site plan submittal provides sufficient information for a 
preliminary review.   
 
This project is located on a site that was recently rezoning by City Council from RC, Research 
Center District, to OM, Office Mixed Use District.  The rezoning was requested by this applicant 
and received a favorable review from the Planning Commission.  The rezoning was requested 
specifically to allow for this proposed use, a lodging facility, which is not permitted in the RC 
District.  Lodging is permitted as a use subject to special use approval in the OM District. 
 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

2 

Location of Subject Property: 
The property is located on the east Side of Stephenson Highway, north of W. Fourteen Mile 
Road. 
 
Size of Subject Property: 
The parcel is 3.39 acres in area. 
 
Proposed Uses of Subject Parcel: 
The applicant proposes to use the site for a lodging establishment.    
 
Current Use of Subject Property: 
The subject property is currently a vacant former office building.   
 
Current Zoning: 
The property is currently zoned OM, Office Mixed-Use District.  
 
Zoning Classification of Adjacent Parcels and Current Land Use:  
North: OM, Office Mixed-Use District; office 
South: RC, Research Center District; office 
East: OM, Office Mixed-Use District; office and detention basin  
West: IB, Integrated Industrial Business District; office, light industrial 
 

BUILDING LOCATION AND SITE ARRANGEMENT 
 

The proposed building would be located at the center of the site, with half the parking in front 
and the remaining half to the side and rear.  There is also a significant reserved open space to the 
rear.  The proposed building would have circulation for vehicles along the south side and for 
pedestrians on all sides.  The arrangement is efficient and typical for a facility of this type. 
 
Items to be Addressed: None.   
 
AREA, WIDTH, HEIGHT, SETBACKS 
 
Required and Provided Dimensions: 
Section 4.17.C establishes the dimensional requirements for the OM District.  The requirements 
and the proposed dimensions are as follows: 
 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

3 

 
* While the site plan does not specifically call out lot coverage, we are certain the maximum of 
40 percent has not been exceeded.  Formal lot coverage calculations should be included on a 
revised plan, however. 
 
Items to be Addressed: Show lot coverage calculation.  
 

PARKING 
 
Proposed Parking: 
The site plan shows 128 total parking spaces throughout the site.   
 
Parking Location: 
Parking is distributed evenly between the area in front of the front building line and behind the 
front building line, as required by Section 4.17.D.4. 
   
Parking Calculations: 
The parking calculations provided are as follows. 
 

Required Provided 
1 space for each guest room, 1 space per 1 

employee on the largest typical shift, plus any 
additional spaces required for dining 
establishments, calculated separately.  

120 guest rooms = 120 spaces 
8 employees per shift – 8 spaces 

No dining establishment (if continental 
breakfasts are served for guests in the common 
areas on the first floor, this does not constitute a 

restaurant use) 
120 + 8 = 128 spaces required 

128 spaces with 6 barrier free 

 Required: Provided: 
Front 10 feet  minimum setback 169.6 feet 

Rear 30 foot minimum setback 137.5 feet 

Side (north) 20 feet  minimum setback 21.2 feet 

Side (south) 20 feet  minimum setback 67.3 feet 

Building Height 
Maximum 5 stories, 75 feet 4 stories, 58 feet 

Lot Coverage 40 percent maximum Not provided* 

Open Space 20 percent 37.2 percent 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

4 

 
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
SITE ACCESS AND CIRCULATION 
 
Vehicular access: 
The site will be accessed a single drive to the west and across a cross access drive to the south. 
We have no objection to this approach.  The applicant must demonstrate that a final cross access 
easement as proposed has been executed prior to final site plan approval. 
  
Pedestrian access:  
There is an existing sidewalk along Stephenson Highway along the site’s frontage.  The site plan 
includes a new pedestrian network that connects to this sidewalk with dedicated, brick paver 
walkways from the canopy and front entrance out to the right-of-way.  The sidewalk network 
surrounds the proposed building with a conventional concrete sidewalk. 
 
Also, Section 13.10.C.4 requires that “all sites with parking of 10 spaces or greater shall provide a 
bike rack for at least two bicycles within 50 feet of the building entrance.” A bike rack should be 
added to the site plan to meet this requirement. 
 
Items to be Addressed: A bike rack with capacity of at least two bicycles must be added to the 
site plan.    
 
NATURAL RESOURCES 
 
The site is an existing developed vacant building with typical site landscaping.  The proposed 
plan would not impact any protected natural features.  The plan does, however, add new 
landscape materials and landscape islands and a portion of the existing trees will be preserved.  
  
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
LIGHTING 
 
The applicant has provided a lighting (photometric) plan and lighting fixture details.  There is 
some light spill across all four site boundaries, however, the adjacent sites are non-residential.  
Light shall not exceed one-tenth (0.1) foot-candle along any boundary adjacent to residentially 
zoned or used property, and 1 foot-candle along all nonresidential property boundaries. The light 
encroachment does not exceed 1 foot-candle at any location. 
  
Items to be Addressed: None. 
 
LANDSCAPING 
 
The application includes a detailed landscape plan.  The plan does not provide any information or 
calculations on how the greenbelt, street trees, parking lot landscaping requirements, and 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

5 

landscaped area are being met.  The plan does provide some detail, but no formal calculations.  A 
detailed landscape table showing how all requirements of Section 13.02 are being met should be 
added.    
 
Greenbelt:  
A ten (10) foot wide greenbelt has been provided along the public street frontage. 
 
Street trees: 
The site plan shows 1 existing street tree near the pedestrian access and 4 trees at the site’s 
extreme northwest corner are proposed to remain on site. Of the 5 trees proposed to remain, 3 are 
deciduous.  The plan also shows 8 new trees.  The Ordinance requires that the greenbelt shall be 
landscaped with a minimum of one (1) deciduous tree for every thirty (30) lineal feet, or fraction 
thereof, of frontage abutting a public road right-of-way.  This site has 332 feet of frontage, 
requiring 11.06 (12) trees.  With the 3 proposed to remain and the additional 8, only 11 
qualifying deciduous street trees are proposed. An addition deciduous street tree must be added 
to meet minimum Ordinance requirements. 
 
Minimum landscaped area: 
The site plan must provide 20 percent overall landscaped area.  The site is 3.39 acres, requiring 
29,533 square feet of landscaping.  The proposed site plan states that the landscaped area 
constitutes 37.2 percent of the site, but no formal calculations are provided in this regard and no 
number of landscaped square feet is indicated.  While we are confident the applicant’s 
calculations are correct and that the minimum landscaped area is exceeded, the exact number of 
landscaped square feet and landscape calculations should be shown on the site plan. 
 
Parking lot landscaping: 
Section 13.02.C establishes the requirements for parking lot landscaping.  The site plan does not 
include notes on how the parking lot landscaping requirements are being met.  They are as 
follows, with our analysis following. 
 
a. There shall be a minimum of one (1) tree for every eight (8) parking spaces. Aside from the 11 
proposed greenbelt trees (8 new, 3 existing – numbered 26, 28, and 31 on Sheet L.1) and the 
additional 3 trees (numbered 29, 30, and 35 on Sheet L.1), there are 29 other existing trees that 
will be either removed or will remain; however, many of the trees detailed are not within the site 
boundaries.  Also the 2011 existing trees drawing does not match the 2007 list or the landscape 
plan drawing in that tree 35 is not listed as being removed in the 2011 inventory but is not shown 
on the landscaping plan.  Will tree 35 be removed? Further, there are trees off this site that are 
proposed for removal.  It is unclear how the applicant is authorized to remove trees off this site.  
There are 9 new proposed trees within tradition parking lot landscaping islands and bumpouts, 
and an additional 16 proposed along the south and east boundaries of the parking areas. There are 
an additional 21 trees proposed in the lawn area east of the building.  There are 128 parking 
spaces proposed on the site, requiring 16 trees.  While we believe this requirement is satisfied by 
the 9 island trees and 16 perimeter trees, the calculations must be provided and the tree inventory 
must be current, consistent, and accurate, and must match the trees proposed to remain in the 
landscape plan. 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

6 

 
b. Landscaping shall be arranged in curbed islands within the parking lot which shall not be less 
than two hundred (200) square feet in area. Modifications in curbing may be permitted when 
islands are used as part of the stormwater management system. Satisfied. 
 
c. A minimum distance of three (3) feet from the backside of the curb and the proposed landscape 
plantings shall be provided. Where vehicles overhang a landscape island or strip, a minimum 
distance of five (5) feet from the backside of the curb and the proposed landscape plantings shall 
be provided. Satisfied. 
 
d. An equivalent amount of landscape plantings at the perimeter of parking lots may be approved 
where landscaping within parking lots would be impractical due to the size of the parking lot, 
detrimental to safe and efficient traffic flow, or would create an unreasonable burden for 
maintenance and snowplowing, provided all other landscaping requirements are met. Satisfied 
(see parking lot tree requirements, above) 
 
Parking lots adjacent a public right-of-way must also meet specific requirements for screening. 
Section 13.02.C.3.b requires that parking lots that front on a public roadway shall be screened by 
a landscaped berm at least three (3) feet in height along the perimeter of the road right-of-way. 
Alternative landscape plantings or a solid wall that does not exceed three (3) feet in height may 
be approved, where it is found that space limitations or visibility for vehicular circulation prevent 
construction of a landscape berm. A berm must be added in the lawn area between the parking lot 
and the right-of-way for Stephenson Highway, specifically along the length of the actual area 
where the 10 parking spaces facing Stephenson are proposed. 
 
Protective techniques proposed for all trees proposed to remain must be shown in the landscape 
plan. (Section 13.02.A.5.b) 
 
Items to be Addressed: 1.) Add one deciduous street tree. 2.) Provide landscaped area 
calculations. 3.) Correct errors and inconsistencies in the landscape plan and existing tree 
inventory. 4.) Provide detailed landscaping calculations showing how all requirements of 
Section 13.02 are being met. 5.) Add a 3-foot landscape berm in the lawn area between the 
parking lot and the right-of-way for Stephenson Highway, specifically along the length of the 
actual area where the 10 parking spaces facing Stephenson are proposed. 6.) Show protective 
techniques for trees proposed to remain. 
 
SUBMITTAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
Section 8.05.A.7 establishes the requirements for preliminary site plan submittals.  Sheets C1, C2 
and C3 sealed by Richard VanDever, PE.  Sheet A.1 is sealed by Richard Burmann, Architect.  
Sheet L.1 is sealed by Richard Burmann, Architect.  It is our assumption that Sheet A.1 is the 
“top sheet” for architectural drawings, so remaining ones were not sealed.  All sheets should be 
sealed in a revised submittal. The photometric plan is not sealed, which is typical and the City 
has not traditionally required a seal on that sheet as it is prepared by the lighting providers who 
do warranty and accept certain liability for the lighting products themselves and their 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

7 

performance along manufacturer specifications.  Aside from the deficiencies in the landscape 
plan detailed above, the application is complete with the following exceptions:  
 

1. Samples, swatches, or manufacturer’s specification sheets of the predominant proposed 
exterior materials and colors of all buildings and permanent structures, including walls 
and fences must be provided.  The application does not include this information, but we 
are comfortable with the applicant providing it at the meeting. 

 
Items to be Addressed: 1.) Seal all sheets. 2.) Provide samples, swatches, or manufacturer’s 
specification sheets of the predominant proposed exterior materials and colors of all buildings 
and permanent structures, including walls and fences.  These may be provided in person at the 
meeting. 
 
SPECIAL USE  
 
In the OM District, lodging is permitted as a special use. For any special use, according to 
Section 9.02.D, the Planning Commission shall “…review the request, supplementary materials 
either in support or opposition thereto, as well as the Planning Department’s report, at a Public 
Hearing established for that purpose, and shall either grant or deny the request, table action on 
the request, or grant the request subject to specific conditions.” 
 
Use Standards 
 
Section 6.16 states that lodging that includes a restaurant, bar/lounge, auditorium, exhibition, or 
public meeting space shall provide parking to accommodate all uses on the site, in accordance with 
the standards set forth in Section 13.06. This hotel has only a small first floor meeting room and a 
common great room for use by the guests.  This hotel does not have dedicated, separate restaurant, 
bar/lounge, auditorium, exhibition, or public meeting spaces. 
 
Standards of Approval 
 
Section 9.03 states that before approving any requests for Special Use Approval, the Planning 
Commission shall consider: 
 
1. Compatibility with Adjacent Uses. The Special Use shall be designed and constructed in a 

manner harmonious with the character of adjacent property and the surrounding area. In 
determining whether a Special Use will be harmonious and not create a significant 
detrimental impact, as compared to the impacts of permitted uses. The proposed use is 
intended for location within areas of high office and light industrial or commercial 
concentration.  The proposed use will not have any detrimental impact and will add a 
valuable service to the immediate large office centers. 

 
2. Compatibility with the Master Plan. The proposed Special Use shall be compatible and in 

accordance with the goals and objectives of the City of Troy Master Plan and any associated 
sub-area and corridor plans. The use is common to mixed-use office areas, and complies 
with the Master Plan. 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

8 

 
3. Traffic Impact. The proposed Special Use shall be located and designed in a manner which 

will minimize the impact of traffic, taking into consideration: pedestrian access and safety; 
vehicle trip generation (i.e. volumes); types of traffic, access location, and design, circulation 
and parking design; street and bridge capacity and, traffic operations at nearby intersections 
and access points. Efforts shall be made to ensure that multiple transportation modes are 
safely and effectively accommodated in an effort to provide alternate modes of access and 
alleviate vehicular traffic congestion. The site must add a bike rack, but does provide 
adequate pedestrian and vehicular access.  With the nature of the use as one that does not 
have acute peak traffic times, and which is located in a high-intensity area, we believe this 
condition is satisfied. 

 
4. Impact on Public Services. The proposed Special Use shall be adequately served by essential 

public facilities and services, such as: streets, pedestrian or bicycle facilities, police and fire 
protection, drainage systems, refuse disposal, water and sewage facilities, and schools. Such 
services shall be provided and accommodated without an unreasonable public burden. We do 
not expect any additional impact on other public services, such as police or utilities, beyond 
what would normally be experienced for other uses in the district. The engineering 
department has reviewed the site plan as submitted and has no objections. 

 
5. Compliance with Zoning Ordinance Standards. The proposed Special Use shall be designed, 

constructed, operated and maintained to meet the stated intent of the zoning districts and shall 
comply with all applicable ordinance standards. Several items need to be addressed, as noted 
herein, to meet this requirement. 

 
The Planning Commission is also required to generally consider the following for any special use 
application:  
 
1. The nature and character of the activities, processes, materials, equipment, or conditions of 

operation; either specifically or typically associated with the use. See above.  We believe that 
with conditions, the proposed use may be permissible. 

 
2. Vehicular circulation and parking areas. Parking and access requirements are met. 
 
3. Outdoor activity, storage and work areas. N/A. 
 
4. Hours of operation. The proposed use is in an area where most of the adjacent users are 

gone after hours.  This is a high-intensity area and a hotel is a common use and such 
areas. 

 
5. Production of traffic, noise vibration, smoke, fumes odors, dust, glare and light. We do not 

anticipate any additional impact after initial construction in this regard. 
 
Items to be addressed: Address Ordinance compliance issues noted herein. 
 



Holiday Inn Express 
August 4, 2011 

9 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
We support the proposed project and believe the project does meet or exceed minimum 
requirements, with several small conditions for clarification and compliance with minor elements 
required by the Zoning Ordinance. We recommend the Planning Commission approve the 
preliminary site plan application conditioned on the applicant satisfying the following 
requirements: 
 
1. Show lot coverage calculation. 
2. Add a bike rack with capacity of at least two bicycles. 
3. Satisfy landscape requirements as follows: 

a. Add one deciduous street tree  
b. Provide landscaped area calculations.  
c. Correct errors and inconsistencies in the landscape plan and existing tree inventory.  
d. Provide detailed landscaping calculations showing how all requirements of Section 13.02 

are being met.  
e. Add a 3-foot landscape berm in the lawn area between the parking lot and the right-of-

way for Stephenson Highway, specifically along the length of the actual area where the 10 
parking spaces facing Stephenson are proposed.  

f. Show protective techniques for trees proposed to remain. 
4. Seal remaining architectural sheets.  
5. Provide samples, swatches, or manufacturer’s specification sheets of the predominant 

proposed exterior materials and colors of all buildings and permanent structures, including 
walls and fences.  These may be provided in person at the meeting. 

 
 

 
 
225-02-1109 





















 Designer

 Date

 Scale

 Drawing No.

 TS/JAB

 JULY 18 2011

 AS NOTED

 GBA11-32163-V1

1 of 1

 H
O

L
IT

A
Y

 I
N

N
 -

 T
R

O
Y

, 
M

I
 S

IT
E

 L
IG

H
T

IN
G

 P
H

O
T

O
M

E
T

R
IC

 V
A

L
U

E
S

 P
R

E
P

A
R

E
D

 F
O

R
: 
 C

U
R

R
E

N
T

 D
E

S
IG

N

 G
A

S
S

E
R

 B
U

S
H

 A
S

S
O

C
IA

T
E

S

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.5

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.6

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.9

0.8

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

2.0

0.9

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

2.5

0.9

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

2.5

1.1

0.4

0.5

0.7

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.7

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.6

1.0

1.5

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

2.4

1.0

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.4

1.8

1.9

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.0

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.7

1.2

1.4

2.0

2.8

3.3

3.2

2.7

1.9

1.3

1.1

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

2.4

1.2

0.7

1.1

1.3

1.9

2.7

3.1

3.1

2.7

1.9

1.3

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.6

1.1

0.7

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.1

1.1

1.1

1.2

2.0

2.6

3.7

3.7

3.7

3.7

2.6

2.0

1.3

1.1

0.6

0.7

1.3

0.9

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.7

1.9

1.2

0.9

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

1.0

1.8

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

0.8

1.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.5

0.7

1.0

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.7

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.4

0.5

0.8

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.9

0.6

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.0

1.9

1.0

1.1

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.4

1.7

1.5

1.1

0.9

0.8

0.8

0.8

1.2

1.5

2.0

1.7

1.6

1.6

1.5

2.0

1.9

0.7

1.8

3.3

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

1.4

1.5

1.5

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.0

1.2

1.4

1.2

0.8

0.6

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.4

0.9

0.6

0.9

1.1

0.6

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.4

1.5

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.5

1.0

2.5

1.8

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

1.5

0.5

3.9

3.4

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

1.4

0.3

0.5

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

1.4

0.4

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

1.2

0.6

3.5

2.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

0.9

3.2

1.3

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.9

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.7

0.6

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.1

0.7

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.8

0.9

4.1

4.1

0.6

0.5

1.2

0.7

0.4

2.0

2.4

0.4

0.6

2.8

0.7

0.3

0.7

0.8

0.6

3.8

3.3

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

1.2

2.0

2.1

0.6

0.8

3.7

1.4

0.5

3.4

3.8

0.5

0.8

4.2

0.9

0.5

3.9

4.8

0.8

2.6

2.1

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.7

1.3

0.6

0.4

0.5

0.8

0.5

0.2

0.4

0.4

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.6

0.7

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

1.6

0.7

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

0.6

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

4.1

1.9

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.8

1.1

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.7

1.0

0.7

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.5

0.4

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.6

3.9

1.0

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.5

3.8

0.8

0.2

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.5

0.8

0.5

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.4

0.7

0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.6

0.9

1.0

0.9

0.6

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.5

0.5

0.6

0.6

0.5

0.5

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.4

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.3

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.7

1.1

1.2

0.8

0.6

0.9

1.6

1.9

1.2

0.6

1.8

2.9

2.4

1.1

3.5

3.7

1.0

2.3

4.1

0.7

1.7

3.3

1.1

1.5

3.1

0.7

1.7

3.1

1.0

2.3

4.4

1.0

1.2

2.1

2.7

3.7

3.7

3.6

3.7

2.5

2.0

3.6

3.8

2.2

1.1

1.8

2.7

3.1

3.3

3.1

3.2

3.8

2.8

2.7

3.1

2.7

1.3

1.2

1.2

1.6

2.7

3.0

3.8

3.4

3.4

3.7

3.0

2.7

1.6

1.2

0.8

0.8

1.2

1.4

2.5

2.6

2.0

1.9

1.9

2.2

2.4

2.3

2.1

1.5

1.0

1.1

1.2

1.5

2.6

2.7

2.3

2.3

2.2

2.2

2.6

2.5

1.5

1.3

1.0

0.8

1.0

1.1

1.7

2.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

2.1

1.4

0.9

0.6

1.5

1.2

1.2

0.9

1.1

1.3

2.0

2.6

1.6

1.6

1.6

1.4

2.4

1.8

1.2

1.1

0.9

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.7

1.5

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.0

1.3

1.4

1.0

0.7

1.1

1.1

1.0

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.1

1.5

1.5

1.5

1.3

1.7

1.8

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.4

1.8

1.8

1.5

1.5

1.6

1.6

1.3

1.2

1.5

1.3

0.8

0.9

1.1

1.3

1.6

2.0

2.2

1.9

1.9

1.8

1.9

1.7

1.6

1.9

1.6

1.2

1.1

1.3

1.5

1.7

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.9

1.5

1.5

1.4

1.1

0.8

0.7

1.1

1.7

2.0

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.0

2.2

2.1

2.0

1.6

1.4

1.2

1.3

1.6

1.8

1.6

1.5

1.8

1.8

1.8

1.7

1.8

1.8

1.3

0.8

0.6

0.6

1.1

1.5

2.1

2.0

1.8

2.0

2.0

2.1

2.3

2.1

1.8

1.4

1.2

1.2

1.2

1.4

1.8

1.6

1.6

1.7

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

1.6

1.1

0.7

0.6

0.7

1.2

1.6

2.6

3.0

2.4

2.5

2.7

2.7

3.1

2.3

1.7

1.2

1.2

1.1

1.1

1.4

1.7

2.4

2.2

2.1

2.1

1.9

2.6

2.3

1.4

1.1

0.6

0.5

1.0

1.6

2.3

3.3

4.3

4.0

4.0

4.0

5.0

3.5

3.3

2.0

1.4

1.1

1.1

1.3

1.7

2.8

3.1

4.2

3.3

3.2

3.3

4.0

3.1

2.0

1.4

0.8

0.6

1.2

1.9

3.4

3.8

5.4

6.3

6.5

6.4

6.7

4.4

4.1

2.3

1.6

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.1

3.9

4.1

5.9

5.5

5.6

5.4

5.0

3.8

3.5

1.8

1.0

0.5

0.7

1.0

1.3

2.4

3.1

4.2

5.7

6.9

7.3

6.7

4.7

4.3

2.3

1.5

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.3

4.1

4.4

6.5

7.2

7.3

6.8

5.5

3.8

2.9

2.0

0.9

0.6

0.9

1.3

1.9

2.4

3.6

3.9

5.4

6.3

6.6

6.4

6.7

4.3

4.0

2.3

1.6

1.1

1.1

1.5

2.4

4.0

4.3

6.8

7.1

7.3

6.7

5.6

3.6

2.9

1.9

0.9

0.6

1.1

1.9

2.5

2.7

2.8

3.5

4.3

4.0

3.9

3.9

4.9

3.4

3.1

1.9

1.4

1.0

1.0

1.4

1.9

3.6

3.8

5.2

4.7

4.7

4.6

4.4

3.5

3.0

1.7

0.9

1.6

2.8

2.7

2.2

2.6

2.9

2.2

2.3

2.3

2.4

2.7

2.0

1.3

0.9

0.9

1.0

1.0

1.4

2.3

2.8

3.0

2.7

2.6

2.6

3.3

2.7

1.7

1.2

0.8

2.8

4.3

2.7

1.8

1.9

1.7

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.0

3.2

3.9

2.0

1.5

1.3

6.0

4.1

1.6

1.2

3.1

3.0

1.5

1.3

3.1

2.8

1.3

0.9

5.8

5.0

1.2

0.6

2.9

3.5

1.9

0.7

2.3

3.9

2.7

1.2

1.2

2.2

2.4

1.6

1.0

1.6

2.0

1.6

1.0

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.4

1.2

1.1

1.1

0.8

0.6

0.6

1.2

1.4

1.4

1.6

2.1

2.2

2.1

1.9

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.5

1.5

2.2

3.7

3.7

3.7

3.7

2.2

1.3

1.4

1.3

0.9

0.8

1.1

1.4

2.1

2.9

3.8

3.9

3.9

3.8

2.9

2.1

1.3

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.3

2.0

3.4

5.0

6.3

6.2

5.2

3.7

2.0

1.3

1.0

1.3

1.6

2.8

5.0

7.0

7.0

5.2

3.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

1.0

1.1

1.1

1.7

2.8

5.0

7.3

7.3

5.2

2.9

1.8

1.1

1.1

0.8

1.1

1.2

1.6

2.8

5.0

6.9

6.9

5.2

3.0

1.7

1.3

1.1

0.9

1.0

1.2

2.0

3.4

4.8

6.0

6.0

5.0

3.7

2.1

1.3

1.0

0.8

1.1

1.3

2.0

2.8

3.7

3.8

3.8

3.7

2.8

2.1

1.4

1.1

0.7

1.2

1.3

1.3

2.0

3.6

3.4

3.4

3.6

2.0

1.3

1.3

1.2

0.9

1.3

1.8

2.0

2.0

1.8

1.3

1.0

0.9

0.7

1.0

1.0

1.0

1.0

0.8

0.5

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

7.5

HE2

HE2

HE

HE

HC

HE2

HC

BA

BA

BA

BA

BA

BA BABABA
BA

BA

SITE LIGHTING PHOTOMETRIC VALUES
Scale  1" = 30'

LUMINAIRE LOCATIONS

No. Label X Y MH Orientation Tilt

Location

1 HE2 5205.4 5249.5 25.0 90.0 0.0

2 HE2 5202.3 5103.3 25.0 90.0 0.0

3 HE 5081.4 5265.6 25.0 90.0 0.0

4 HE 5092.5 5126.4 25.0 90.0 0.0

5 HC 5062.4 5055.3 25.0 180.0 0.0

6 HE2 5401.7 5076.7 25.0 180.0 0.0

7 HC 5275.7 5012.0 25.0 0.0 0.0

8 BA 5345.4 5146.6 3.5 0.0 0.0

9 BA 5350.8 5182.7 3.5 0.0 0.0

10 BA 5347.9 5216.6 3.5 0.0 0.0

11 BA 5349.3 5251.8 3.5 0.0 0.0

12 BA 5351.5 5287.1 3.5 0.0 0.0

13 BA 5379.9 5323.6 3.5 0.0 0.0

14 BA 5416.2 5323.0 3.5 0.0 0.0

15 BA 5316.1 5324.9 3.5 0.0 0.0

16 BA 5278.2 5325.9 3.5 0.0 0.0

17 BA 5242.2 5329.8 3.5 0.0 0.0

18 BA 5346.2 5316.0 3.5 0.0 0.0

LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE

Symbol Label Qty File Lumens LLF WattsCatalog Number Description Lamp

HC 2 KSF2_400M_R
3_HS.ies

38000 0.72 456

HE 2 KSF2_400M_R
4W.ies

38000 0.72 456

HE2 3 KSF2_400M_R
4W.ies

38000 0.72 912

BA 11 94033106.IES 5000 0.72 95

LITHONIA #KSF2
400M R3 HS
(SINGLE - 25' MTD
HTG)

Specification Area
Luminaire, 400W Metal
Halide, R3 Reflector with
houseside shield, Full
Cutoff MEETS THE
'NIGHTTIME FRIENDLY'
CRITERIA

ONE 400 WATT CLEAR
ED28 PULSE START
METAL HALIDE IN
HORIZONTAL POSITION

LITHONIA #KSF2
400M R4W
(SINGLE - 25' MTD
HTG)

Specification Area
Luminaire, 400W Metal
Halide, R4 Wide Reflector,
Full Cutoff MEETS THE
'NIGHTTIME FRIENDLY'
CRITERIA

ONE 400 WATT CLEAR
ED28 PULSE START
METAL HALIDE IN
HORIZONTAL POSITION

LITHONIA #KSF2
400M R4W (TWIN -
25' MTD HTG)

Specification Area
Luminaire, 400W Metal
Halide, R4 Wide Reflector,
Full Cutoff MEETS THE
'NIGHTTIME FRIENDLY'
CRITERIA

TWO 400 WATT CLEAR
ED28 PULSE START
METAL HALIDE IN
HORIZONTAL POSITION

LITHONIA #KBD8
70M LV

8 IN ROUND BOLLARD
W/ LOUVERS

ONE 70-WATT CLEAR E-
17 METAL HALIDE,
VERTICAL BASE-DOWN
POSITION.

STATISTICS

Description       Symbol Avg Max Min Max/Min Avg/Min

PARKING & DRIVE AREA -
VALUES AT GRADE

2.3 fc 7.5 fc 0.5 fc 15.0:1 4.6:1

0.9 fc 7.5 fc 0.0 fc N / A N / ASITE VALUES AT GRADE

NOTES

 1.  SEE MH COLUMN OF LUMINAIRE LOCATIONS FOR MOUNTING HEIGHTS.

 2.  SEE LUMINAIRE SCHEDULE FOR LIGHT LOSS FACTORS.

 3.  CALCULATIONS ARE SHOWN IN FOOTCANDLES AT GRADE SURFACE.

 

 THE ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT MUST DETERMINE APPLICABILITY OF THE LAYOUT 

 TO EXISTING / FUTURE FIELD CONDITIONS.  THIS LIGHTING LAYOUT REPRESENTS ILLUMINATION LEVELS 

 CALCULATED FROM LABORATORY DATA TAKEN UNDER CONTROLLED CONDITIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

 ILLUMINATING ENGINEERING SOCIETY APPROVED METHODS.  ACTUAL PERFORMANCE OF ANY MANUFACTURER'S

 LUMINAIRE MAY VARY DUE TO VARIATION IN ELECTRICAL VOLTAGE, TOLERANCE IN LAMPS, AND OTHER

 VARIABLE FIELD CONDITIONS.  MOUNTING HEIGHTS INDICATED ARE FROM GRADE AND/OR FLOOR UP.

 GBA DOES NOT ACT AS THE CIVIL OR STRUCTURAL ENGINEER AND DOES NOT DETERMINE BASE REQUIREMENTS.

 POLES SPECIFICATIONS ARE NOT INCLUDED WITH EXTERIOR LIGHTING PHOTOMETRIC ANALYSIS.  

  THESE LIGHTING CALCULATIONS ARE NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR INDEPENDENT ENGINEERING 

  ANALYSIS OF LIGHTING SYSTEM SUITABILITY AND SAFETY.    THE ENGINEER AND/OR ARCHITECT

 IS RESPONSIBLE TO REVIEW FOR MICHIGAN ENERGY CODE AND

 LIGHTING QUALITY COMPLIANCE. 

 

  





  PC 2011.08.09 
  Agenda Item # 6 

 

 
 
 
 
DATE: August 4, 2011 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE 

PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 391) – Proposed Kroger Retail Fuel Center D-
464, Southwest Corner of South Boulevard and Crooks (2105 W. South Blvd), 
Section 5, Currently Zoned NN (Neighborhood Node) District (Controlled by 
Consent Judgment)  

 
The applicant, Landplan Engineering, proposes a Kroger Retail Fuel Center at 466 
Stephenson.  A commercial development presently sits on the property, including a Kroger 
grocery store.  The fuel center is proposed for the northeast corner of the site, which is 
presently a paved parking area. 
 
The attached report prepared by Carlisle/Wortman Associates, Inc. (CWA), the City’s 
Planning Consultant, summarizes the project.  CWA prepared the report with input from 
various City departments including Planning, Engineering, Public Works and Fire.   City 
Management supports the findings of fact contained in the report and recommends approval 
of the project, as noted.   
 
Please be prepared to discuss the application at the August 9, 2011 Planning Commission 
Regular meeting. 
 
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps. 
2. Report prepared by CWA. 

 
 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SU 391 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 391  Kroger Retail Fuel Center  Sec 05\SU-391 Kroger Retail Fuel Center 08 09 2011_2nd.docx 



 

 

 
SPECIAL USE APPROVAL AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 

 
 
PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW 
(File Number SU 391) – Proposed Kroger Retail Fuel Center D-464, Southwest Corner of 
South Boulevard and Crooks (2105 W. South Blvd), Section 5, Currently Zoned NN 
(Neighborhood Node) District (Controlled by Consent Judgment) 
 
Proposed Resolution # PC-2011-08- 
Moved by: 
Seconded by: 
 
 

RESOLVED, The Planning Commission hereby recommends to City Council that Special 
Use Approval and Preliminary Site Plan Approval for the proposed Kroger Retail Fuel 
Center, located at the southwest corner of South Boulevard and Crooks Road, Section 5, 
within the NN zoning district, controlled by consent judgment, be granted, subject to the 
following: 
___________________________________________________________) or  
 
 

(denied, for the following reasons: _________________________________) or 
 

(postponed, for the following reasons:_________________________________) 
 
 

Yes:  
No:  
Absent:  
 
MOTION CARRIED / DENIED 
 
 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 391  Kroger Retail Fuel Center  Sec 05\Proposed Resolution  SU 391 08 09 2011_2nd.docx 



2105 W. South Blvd, Kroger Retail Fuel Center

7/14/2011

Legend

1: 2,136

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1780356 356Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:Band_1

Green:Band_2

Blue:Band_3



2105 W. South Blvd, Kroger Retail Fuel Center

7/14/2011

Legend

1: 2,136

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1780356 356Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Form Based Zoning (Current)

(PUD) Planned Unit Development

(CF) Community Facilities District

(EP) Environmental Protection District

(BB) Big Beaver Road (Form Based)

(MRF) Maple Road (Form Based)

(NN) Neighborhood Nodes (A-U)

(CB) Community Business

(GB) General Business

(IB) Integrated Industrial Business District

(O) Office Building District

(OM) Office Mixed Use

(P) Vehicular Parking District

(R-1A) One Family Residential District

(R-1B) One Family Residential District

(R-1C) One Family Residential District

(R-1D) One Family Residential District

(R-1E) One Family Residential District

(RT) One Family Attached Residential District

(MR) Multi-Family Residential

(MHP) Manufactured Housing

(UR) Urban Residential

(RC) Research Center District

(PV) Planned Vehicle Sales

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:Band_1

Green:Band_2

Blue:Band_3



 

Richard K. Carlisle, President      R. Donald Wortman, Vice President       Douglas J. Lewan, Principal      John L. Enos, Principal 
Sally M. Elmiger, Associate    David J. Scurto, Associate    Brian M. Oppmann, Associate    Zachary Branigan, Associate 

 
 
 
MEMORANDUM 
 
TO: Brent Savidant 
 
FROM: Zachary Branigan 

DATE: August 5, 2011 
 
RE: Kroger Vehicle Fueling Station 
 
 
We are in receipt of a submittal for an amendment to a consent judgment to allow the addition of 
a vehicle fueling/multi-use station in a new outlot located within the existing parking lot of the 
Northfield Commons retail center at 2105 West South Boulevard at the southwest corner of 
South Boulevard and Crooks Road. Given the nature of the project as one regulated by consent 
judgment, we are providing a more focused review in a memorandum format.  The Planning 
Commission is a recommending body to the City Council for this application. 
 
The existing retail center is controlled by consent judgment, but has the underlying zoning 
classification of Neighborhood Node (NN) District and is located with Node U.  In the 
Neighborhood Node Form-Based District, vehicle fueling/multi-use stations are permitted in Use 
Group 6 under special use permit when the site is classified as Site Type A, Street Type A.  
Consequently, this use would be permitted under conventional zoning after going through the 
special use process.   
 
As a single-story building within a new permanent outlot of an existing larger retail center, the 
project would be regulated as a “Building Form A.” Building Form A is permitted by right in NN 
District sites that are classified Site Type A, Street Type A, regardless of whether they are stand-
alone or are within an outlot of a larger development (unlike the MR and BB Districts where 
Building Form A is permitted only when secondary to Forms D, E, of F on major sites like this 
one). However, the project would be required to adhere to the form-based regulations of the 
Ordinance.  Given the status of this project as a part of a consent judgment, the Planning 
Commission is only obligated to make a recommendation to City Council with regard to the 
project and variations from the conventional underlying zoning are possible, including 
dimensional, form-based code variations. 
 
We have reviewed the plan with regard to the circulation, parking, landscaping, lighting, general 
site design, and the general provisions of the Ordinance.  We have also reviewed the proposed 
use against the specific use provisions that would traditionally be applied to vehicle refueling 
stations.  The applicant has utilized, for purposes of comparison, the dimensional regulations for 



Kroger Vehicle Refueling Center 
August 5, 2011 

 2 

the GB District, given the former underlying zoning category of this center and the language of 
the consent judgment, which predates the new Ordinance and relied on the underlying 
commercial zoning category present at the time of the original approval.  Given the flexibility of 
interpretation and the status of this project as an amendment to that consent judgment, we have 
no objection to the approach of referencing the GB regulations for comparative purposes. 
 
Circulation and Parking 
 
No new curb cuts are proposed as part of this project.  The new facility will be located in a 
visible spot at the extreme corner of the site, but will not have new exclusive curb cuts.  The 
access to the facility will be provided solely by the existing maneuvering lanes for the main 
shopping center.  We accept and support this approach as it puts no new access management 
burden on the intersection while still providing sufficient safe access to the facility, especially for 
the shopping center patrons.  The facility is designed with a north-south orientation and relies on 
three main points of access from the parking area.  The area containing the proposed facility is 
contained by two landscape islands that separate the main parking area from the facility and 
direct traffic flow.  Customers will be able to access the refueling center from the southeast or 
two spots along the west boundary of the proposed improvement area. The location and 
arrangement of these access drives is suitable to permit efficient access to the four pump stations 
and the kiosk. 
 
Parking for the retail center is required at a rate of one space for every 300 square feet of gross 
floor area.  This center is 76,512 square feet, requiring 255 spaces (the cover sheet mistakenly 
states that 256 would be required, however, fractions of less than 0.5 spaces are rounded down, 
in accordance with Section 13.06.D.4). The refueling facility would require 16 spaces for the 
pump islands and 2 for the 125 square feet of retail area within the kiosk.  Consequently, a total 
of 273 spaces are required for the site overall after the addition of the refueling facility.  There 
are currently 465 spaces on site, and 54 would be lost to the new facility.  The remaining 411 
spaces exceed minimum requirements.  While the remaining parking would exceed required 
parking by more than 20 percent, a condition prohibited without special consideration by Section 
13.06.F.3, this is an existing condition and is part of a consent judgment.  The reduction is spaces 
and increase in intensity actually brings the number of excess spaces down, and thereby closer to 
conformance with the Ordinance. 
 
Vehicle Refueling Station Standards 
 
Section 6.28 establishes a series of requirements for all vehicle refueling facilities.  It requires 
the following: 
 
A. The minimum lot area shall be one (1) acre. The site is 8.74 acres in area.  The specific area 
set aside for the refueling center is not defined as a separate parcel, but it is integrated with the 
overall project, does not have its own exclusive access, and relies on its relationship with the 
overall site.  This criterion is met. 
 
The following minimum setbacks shall apply to canopies and pump facilities constructed in 
conjunction with Fueling / Multi-Use: The applicant has provided setback calculation from the 



Kroger Vehicle Refueling Center 
August 5, 2011 

 3 

GB District and for this set of regulations, and has also provided calculations for the project 
from the outer boundary of the entire retail facility.  Given that this project is part of the overall 
center and integrated with the center, this is an acceptable approach.  We have included the 
required and provided setbacks in the following table: 
 
Setback Canopy 

Support 
Required 

Canopy 
Support 
Provided 

Pump 
Islands 
Required 

Pump 
Islands 
Provided 

Canopy 
Edge 
Required 

Canopy 
Edge 
Provided 

Front 35 feet 59.5 feet 
(South 
Blvd.) and 
86.02 feet 
(Crooks) 

30 feet 63 feet 
(South 
Blvd.) and 
85.52 feet 
(Crooks) 

25 feet 53.5 feet 
(South 
Blvd.) and 
75.02 feet 
(Crooks) 

Side 20 feet 489.14 feet 20 feet 487.64 feet 10 feet 478.14 feet 
Rear 30 feet 491.5 feet 20 feet 495 feet 20 feet 485.5 feet 
The kiosk building, which will serve walk-up customers but will not have interior retail space, is 
wholly under the canopy and meets all dimensional requirements.  Dimensional requirements 
are satisfied. 
 

1.  All fueling areas shall be arranged so that motor vehicles do not park on or extend over 
abutting landscaped areas, sidewalks, streets, buildings, or adjoining property while being 
served. Satisfied. 

 
B.  Canopy structures shall be designed and constructed in a manner which is architecturally 

compatible with the principal building. The canopy structure shall be attached to and made 
an integral part of the principal building unless can be demonstrated that the design of the 
building and canopy in combination would be more functional and aesthetically pleasing if 
the canopy was not physically attached to the principal building. The canopy covers the kiosk 
and essentially is the main building proposed for this site.  Proposed materials appear to be 
brick for the canopy support sand kiosk building.  Materials and colors for the canopy edges 
have been provided on Sheet A201 and appear to be common materials and colors for other 
similar structures. 

  
 Required fire protection devices under the canopy shall be architecturally screened so that the 

tanks are not directly visible from the street. The screens shall be compatible with the design 
and color of the canopy. This condition appears to be satisfied, however the limited 
information provided on the façade elevations do not make it clear.  It does appear on Sheet 
A201 that the canopy edge does provide screening, but it is unclear what equipment will be 
mounted and how large the equipment will be. The applicant should be prepared to 
demonstrate compliance with this issue. 

 
C.  Pedestrian Circulation. Given the isolated nature of this station with regard to vehicular and 

pedestrian circulation, we do not perceive there to be any new conflicts created by this 
project. Existing pedestrian access to the site and around the site is not impacted, and there 
is no need for additional pedestrian access to this new facility beyond that from the 



Kroger Vehicle Refueling Center 
August 5, 2011 

 4 

customers of the refueling center itself to the kiosk, which is suitable and typical for a center 
of this type. 

 
 1.  Vehicle Fueling / multi-use stations shall be designed in a manner which promotes 

pedestrian and vehicular safety. Satisfied. 
 
 2.  The parking and circulation system within each development shall accommodate the safe 

movement of vehicles, bicycles, pedestrians and refueling activities throughout the 
proposed development and to and from surrounding areas in a safe and convenient 
manner. Satisfied. 

 
D. Where repair and servicing of vehicles is performed, all repair and maintenance shall be 

performed entirely within an enclosed building. Dismantled, wrecked, or immobile vehicles 
shall not be permitted to be stored on site. Not applicable. 

 
E. If a vehicle wash is proposed, it must comply with the standards set forth in Section 6.29. Not 

applicable. 
 
Landscaping and Lighting 
 
Existing perimeter shrubs and trees are not proposed for removal.  Five trees, 9 shrubs, and 39 
ornamentals will be relocated around the revised site, and places in new landscape islands and 
bumpouts.  The site itself is currently screened by a grade separation (the refueling station area is 
three feet below the level of the sidewalk) and existing shrubs along both frontages.  There are 
also mature street trees along Crooks Road and a pedestrian plaza that is located at the corner.  
These features will not be altered by this project and will continue to adequately screen and 
landscape the frontage.  On site landscaping is being preserved and overall site landscaping area 
for the retail site as a whole is not being affected.  Any existing nonconformities with regard to 
overall site landscaping that would have been created by the new Zoning Ordinance are 
previously existing legal nonconformities.  Also, the status of this project as one regulated by 
consent judgment permits the existing condition to continue.  Regardless, the new project does 
not significantly alter landscaping requirements, given its small impact on the site as a whole, 
and we are satisfied that the existing grade change and landscaping are satisfactory for screening. 
 
The provided photometric plan shows proposed light levels that exceed those permitted under the 
new Ordinance for light poles, although we recognize that these proposed levels are beneath a 
canopy.  Section 13.05.C.2.a limits light levels to no more than 20 footcandles during business 
hours and 10 after hours.  The proposed lighting levels are close to meeting this requirement; the 
brightest spots are between 22 and 26 footcandles, although most of the under-canopy area 
would be between approximately 18 and 22 footcandles.  We recommend that the proposed 
lighting levels be reduced to 20 footcandles or less throughout the majority of the under-canopy 
area. 
 
We cannot make a final determination with regard to encroachment of light levels off-site, given 
that the property boundary is not shown on the photometric plan, however, light levels at the 
project limits are, in most cases around 1-3 footcandles, with some exceptions.  We have no 



Kroger Vehicle Refueling Center 
August 5, 2011 

 5 

concern with regard to the levels to the south and west, into the adjacent parking area. Levels in 
these locations are acceptable and are within the 20 footcandle requirement.  We also suspect 
that the levels at the property boundary will be impacted by the grade changes there.  We suggest 
the applicant provide additional information showing that proposed levels will not exceed 1 
footcandle at the property boundary along the South Boulevard and Crooks Road rights-of-way. 
 
Recommendation 
 
We support the proposed vehicle refueling station at this location.  It has been designed with 
minimal impact with regard to access management conflicts, makes use of an underutilized 
parking area, respects existing development, and would be permissible under conventional 
zoning with consideration given to the special use process.  We recommend the Planning 
Commission recommend to the City Council that the proposed amendment to the consent 
judgment be approved to allow the vehicle refueling station, provided the following conditions 
are satisfied prior to final approval: 
 
1. Demonstrate that the required fire protection devices under the canopy are architecturally 

screened so that the tanks are not directly visible from the street. 
2. Demonstrate compliance with light levels along the South Boulevard and Crooks Road 

rights-of-way. 
 
Please do not hesitate to contact us with any questions, comments, or concerns. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 















































  PC 2011.08.09 
  Agenda Item # 7 

 

DATE: August 3, 2011 
 
TO: Planning Commission 
 
FROM: R. Brent Savidant, Planning Director 
 
SUBJECT: SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File 

Number SU 388 A) – Proposed Adult Foster Care Home, North side of Square 
Lake, East of Beach (2420 W. Square Lake), Section 6, Currently Zoned R-1A 
(One Family Residential) District 

 
 
The applicant, Besnik and Angelina Gojka, received Special Use Approval for a nine (9) adult 
foster care residents on June 14, 2011.  The applicant wishes to expand by one resident, for 
a total of ten (10) adult foster care residents.  
 
Section 6.02 of the Zoning Ordinance requires that an adult foster care small group home 
(between 7 and 12 persons) shall be on a parcel that provides a minimum site area of four 
thousand (4,000) square feet per adult, excluding employees and/or caregivers.  The 
applicant seeks a variance from this requirement from the Zoning Board of Appeals. 
 
The attached application prepared by Horizon Engineering describes the variance request.  A 
recently completed survey of the subject property indicates it is 39,973 square feet in area.  
This yields only 3,997.3 square feet per resident, for 10 residents, which does not meet the 
4,000 square feet per resident standard.  Note the lot was originally platted as 200 feet by 
200 feet, or 40,000 square feet.   
 
The applicant seeks Special Use Approval for a total of ten (10) adult foster care residents, 
but first requires approval of the variance to proceed.  A public hearing is set for the Special 
Use application for September 13, 2011.  As per the Zoning Ordinance, the item is required 
to go before the Planning Commission prior to ZBA consideration. 
 
No action is required by Planning Commission on this item at the August 9, 2011 meeting.  
 
Attachments: 

1. Maps. 
2. Minutes from June 14, 2011, Planning Commission meeting (excerpt). 
3. ZBA application (prepared by Horizon Engineering). 

 
cc: Applicant 
 File/ SU 388 A 
 
G:\SPECIAL USE\SU 388 A  Angel From Albania Adult Foster Care  Sec 06\SU-388 AFC Group Home 08 09 2011.docx 



2420 W Square Lake

4/26/2011

Legend

1: 1,404

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1170234 234Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:Band_1

Green:Band_2

Blue:Band_3



2420 W Square Lake

4/26/2011

Legend

1: 1,404

City of Troy Planning Department

Printed:

1170234 234Feet

Note: The information provided by this application has been compiled from recorded deeds, plats, tax maps, surveys, and other public records and data. It 
is not a legally recorded map survey. Users of this data are hereby notified that the source information represented should be consulted for verification.

Scale

I-75

Road Centerline

Major Road

Industrial Road

Local Road

Zoning

(PUD) Planned Unit Development

(B-1) Local Business District

(B-2) Community Business District

(B-3) General Business District

(R-C) Research Center District

(C-F) Community Facilities District

(C-J) Consent Judgment

(E-P) Environmental Protection District

(R-EC) Residential Elder Care

(P-1) Vehicular Parking District

(H-S) Highway Service District

(M-1) Light Industrial District

(O-1) Office Building District

(O-M) Office Mid-Rise District

(OSC) Office Service Commercial District

(CR-1) One Family Residential Cluster District

(R-1A) One Family Residential District

(R-1B) One Family Residential District

(R-1C) One Family Residential District

(R-1D) One Family Residential District

(R-1E) One Family Residential District

(R-1T) One Family Attached Residential District

(R-2) Two Family Residential District

(R-M) Multiple Family Residential Medium Density

(RM-1) Multiple Family Residential District (Low Rise)

(RM-2) Multiple Family Residential District (Mid Rise)

(RM-3) Multiple Family Residential District (High Rise)

Ponds and Basins

Streams and Creeks

Parcels

Aerial Photos - 2010

Red:Band_1

Green:Band_2

Blue:Band_3



PLANNING COMMISSION REGULAR MEETING – FINAL JUNE 14, 2011 
  
 
 

 
6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN 

REVIEW (File Number SU 388) – Proposed Adult Foster Care Home, North Side of 
Square Lake, East of Beach (2420 W Square Lake), Section 6, Currently Zoned R-
1A (One Family Residential) District 
 
PUBLIC HEARING OPENED 
 
David Bardlow, 2460 W. Square Lake, support. 
John Weisgerber, 2475 Charnwood, oppose. 
Larry English, 6140 Beach Road, oppose. 
 
PUBLIC HEARING CLOSED 
 
Resolution # PC-2011-06-036 
Moved by: Edmunds 
Seconded by: Strat 
 
RESOLVED, That Special Use Approval and Preliminary Site Plan Approval for 
the proposed Adult Foster Care Small Group Home, located on the north side of 
Square Lake and east of Beach Road, at 2420 W. Square Lake, Section 6, within 
the R-1A zoning district, be granted, subject to the following: 
 
1. The maximum number of adult foster care residents shall be 9. 
 
2. Sheet 1 shall be corrected as per the recommendation of the report 

prepared by CWA. 
 
3. An opaque screen fence or landscaping shall be provided to obscure the 

trash storage area on the east façade. 
 
Yes: All present (8) 
Absent: Maxwell 
 
MOTION CARRIED 

 





Rev. 05-19-10

SPECIAL USE APPROVAL  
INITIAL SUBMITTAL CHECKLIST 

(as revised 05-19-10) 

THE FOLLOWING SHALL CONSTITUTE AN INITIAL SUBMISSION: 

�������������	�
������

COMPLETED CITY OF TROY SPECIAL USE APPROVAL APPLICATION FORM AND FEES (REQUIRED 
AND ESCROW – SEE NOTE ON THE FOLLOWING PAGE).

STATEMENT OF COMPATIBILITY WITH DEVELOPMENT OR USE OF THE ADJACENT PROPERTY  

A CERTIFIED BOUNDARY SURVEY, INCLUDING LEGAL DESCRIPTION AND SCALED DRAWING, 
PREPARED BY A LICENSED LAND SURVEYOR.  THE LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF ACREAGE PARCELS 
AND PARCELS FROM SUBDIVISIONS PLATTED PRIOR TO JANUARY 1, 1970 SHALL BE TIED TO A 
RECORDED SECTION OR QUARTER-SECTION CORNER.   

ONE (1) CERTIFIED TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY SHOWING CURRENT SITE IMPROVEMENTS.  THE 
TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY SHALL PROVIDE ONE FOOT CONTOUR INTERVALS AND SHALL BE PRINTED 
ON 24 X 36 INCH SHEET.   

A LOCATION MAP INDICATING THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND THE ZONING AND USES OF THE 
ABUTTING AND/OR ADJACENT PROPERTIES (MAY BE INCLUDED ON THE SITE PLAN).  

ONE (1) FOLDED COPY OF A PROPOSED SITE PLAN INDICATING THE INTENDED USES OF THE 
SUBJECT PROPERTY AND CONTAINING THE INFORMATION, STATISTICS, AND DRAWINGS INDICATED 
IN THE TROY ZONING ORDINANCE, AS PER SECTION 03.43.00 OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE. 

ONE (1) COPY OF AN ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT WHEN REQUIRED BY THE PROVISIONS 
OF ARTICLE VII OF THE TROY ZONING ORDINANCE 

ONE (1) COPY OF PRELIMINARY TREE PRESERVATION PLAN / TREE INVENTORY (OR A WAIVER 
ISSUED BY THE CITY OF TROY PARKS & RECREATION DEPT.)

ONE (1) COPY OF THE PROPOSED LANDSCAPE PLAN PREPARED IN CONFORMANCE WITH THE CITY 
OF TROY’S LANDSCAPE DESIGN STANDARDS  
ONE (1) COPY OF THE PRELIMINARY FLOOR PLANS  

ONE (1) COPY OF THE PRELIMINARY ELEVATIONS OF THE PROPOSED BUILDINGS, INDICATING 
BUILDING HEIGHT.  

ONE (1) COPY OF THE PRELIMINARY GRADING PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CITY OF TROY 
ENGINEERING DESIGN STANDARDS 
ONE (1) COPY OF THE WETLANDS DETERMINATION MAP AND WETLAND REPORT, IF REQUIRED.

NOTIFICATION TO THE MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY, FEDERAL AVIATION 
ADMINISTRATION, THE MICHIGAN AERONAUTICS COMMISSION AND SIMILAR AGENCIES WHICH MAY 
OR/MAY NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THIS PROJECT 

ONE (1) CD CONTAINING AN ELECTRONIC VERSION OF THE SPECIAL USE APPROVAL APPLICATION
AS PER SECTION 03.43.02 OF THE ZONING ORDINANCE. 

NOTE: ALL DRAWINGS SHALL BE SEALED AND SIGNED BY A STATE OF MICHIGAN PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER, 
REGISTERED ARCHITECT, REGISTERED LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT, OR PROFESSIONAL COMMUNITY PLANNER 

ALL COPIES SHALL BE FOLDED.  PLEASE NOTE THAT THE ABOVE QUANTITIES ARE FOR THE INITIAL APPLICATION 
SUBMISSION.   

NOTICE TO APPLICANT 
BY STATE LAW, PUBLIC HEARING NOTICES REGARDING REQUESTS FOR SPECIAL USE APPROVAL WILL BE SENT TO THE 
OWNERS  AND OCCUPANTS OF PROPERTIES WITHIN 300 FEET OF THE SITE INVOLVED IN THE REQUEST.  OPINIONS OF 
ADJACENT PROPERTY OWNERS ARE TAKEN INTO CONSIDERATION BY THE PLANNING COMMISSION IN THE COURSE OF 
THEIR PUBLIC HEARING.  APPLICANTS FOR SPECIAL USE APPROVAL SHOULD PROVIDE INFORMATION TO ADJACENT 
PROPERTY OWNERS REGARDING THEIR PROPOSALS, IN ADVANCE OF OR IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE FILING OF THE 
APPLICATION.  THE PROVISION OF SUCH INFORMATION WILL OFTEN SERVE TO RESOLVE CONCERNS, AND ENABLE THE 
PUBLIC HEARING PROCESS TO PROCEED MORE EFFICIENTLY.

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

X

(Indicated on Site Plan)

(Photographs)

X

(Included on Site Plan)













       #2420 Square Lake Road 
       “Angel from Albania” 
       Adult Foster Care Home 
  Photographs, April 12, 2011   

 

 
    

 
Front (South) Elevation 
 

 
Right Side (East) Elevation 



 

 
Left Side (West) Elevation 
 

 
Rear (North) Elevation 


	1. ROLL CALL
	2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
	3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	July 26, 2011 Special/Study Meeting

	4. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	5. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 390)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Aerial Map
	Zoning Map
	Planning Consultant Review
	Site Plan Application (pgs 19-29)

	6. PUBLIC HEARING – SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 391)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Proposed Resolution
	Aerial Map
	Zoning Map
	Planning Consultant Review
	Site Plan Application (pgs 39-53)
	Renderings (pgs 54-60)

	7. SPECIAL USE REQUEST AND PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN REVIEW (File Number SU 388 A)
	Planning Department Memorandum
	Aerial Map
	Zoning Map
	June 14, 2011 Planning Commission Regular Meeting Minutes Excerpt
	Application (pgs 65-73)

	8. PUBLIC COMMENTS
	9. PLANNING COMMISSION COMMENTS



